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On the minerals front, a series of optimization test programs conducted in Australia resulted in an 
improved minerals production flow-sheet. This enabled the Company to move forward with a bulk 
sample program at CanmetENERGY and in Australia to produce higher volumes of zircon samples for 
customer testing, funded in part by the additional Government Grant. Progress continued on paraffinic 
development with a larger scale pilot now underway at CanmetENERGY through cooperation by industry 
and Government. The paraffinic froth treatment process has been adopted by the newest oil sands 
mining projects and represents an additional opportunity for deployment of the Company’s technology. 

We are pleased with the success of our technical programs and encouraged by the strong support from 
Government stakeholders. Since the successful demonstration pilot, we have met with the oil sands 
operators to advance the adoption of our technology and its many benefits. This process is advancing 
more slowly than we anticipated and we have been adapting our strategies to meet those challenges and 
changes in the industry.

During 2012, the oil sands industry has been re-evaluating its plans in light of rapidly changing market 
conditions. New light oil production from shale deposits in the United States, pipeline constraints, 
opposition to new export pipelines and price discounts to world crudes have negatively impacted 
Canada’s oil sands industry. In response, the mining sector has delayed expansions and reduced 
budgets. Following a period of reassessment, we believe this more constrained environment supports 
adoption of our technology due to its demonstrated operating and economic benefits. 

Also during the year, the industry formally changed its approach to evaluating and implementing new 
technologies for environmental improvement including our technology. Industry formed the Canadian 
Oil Sands Innovation Alliance (“COSIA”) with a mandate to collaborate and share technologies that 
accelerate improvements in environmental performance in the priority areas of tailings, water, land and 
greenhouse gas emissions. COSIA announced an industry wide “Technology Roadmap and Action Plan” 
in August 2012. Our technology, which is the only prioritized technology focused on the recovery of 
valuable products and remediation of froth treatment tailings, is ranked in the top 20 technologies for 
implementation in COSIA’s roadmap. In a period of heightened focus on the social licence to operate, we 
believe the substantial environmental benefits that our technology offers are attractive to both industry 
and Government.

In light of the slower adoption by industry and changing market dynamics, we have reached out to other 
stakeholders including Canadian and Alberta Government Ministries, regulators, industry organizations 
and special interest groups to gain broad support for our technology. Government Ministries are now 

Commercialization of our technology is our key objective 
and, during 2012, our Company made significant 
progress on a number of fronts: securing critical patents 
to protect our intellectual property; qualifying our 
technology for priority ranking in the oil sands industries 
new “Technology Roadmap”; gaining additional Canadian 
Government grant funding and achieving Alberta 
Government support for a fiscal regime to facilitate a new 
minerals industry and bitumen recovery from tailings. 
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becoming actively involved in assisting our project, additional Grant funding has been made available 
and the feedback and response from across Canada has been very encouraging.

We formed valuable relationships with strategic partners in Canada and internationally who will enhance 
our ability to secure and execute large commercial projects.

It has been a difficult year in the financial markets and for our share price. The slowing China economy, 
another slide into recession in Europe and a slow recovery and political uncertainty in the US continued 
to depress markets, particularly the junior resource sector and start up ventures. However, four 
investment firms have initiated positive coverage of our Company. 

In light of the delay in commercialization and uncertain market conditions, we continued to carefully 
steward our cash resources in 2012. Our year-end cash position was $8.4 million plus an additional 
$1.4 million of Canadian Government Grant funding was recently awarded. We have qualified for 
$800,000 of research tax credits which are payable in cash by the Alberta Government. R&D and 
G&A expenses for the year were reduced to $3 million. To control overheads, we maintain a small 
management team and outsource all administrative services. Technical support is provided by expert 
partner firms on an on-demand variable cost basis.

Our technology offers unique and compelling economic and environmental benefits. The creation of a 
new minerals industry for Canada is an exciting new opportunity to promote economic diversification, 
enhance value in the oil sands industry and increase Canadian exports to growing economies in Asia. 
We are confident a combination of this value proposition and active involvement by Government will 
result in adoption by the industry. Our number one objective for the coming year is to achieve the first 
commercial project. Other key tasks include obtaining a final fiscal program and execution of successful 
technical programs with our partners at CanmetEnergy and in Australia. We have a commercially ready 
technology, Government support and strong partners keen to participate with us.

Your Board and management are committed to taking all measures necessary to commercialize our 
technology. We join in thanking our business partners, advisors and particularly all of our shareholders 
for your valued advice and support during the year

Sincerely,

Gordon Pridham Scott Nelson 
Chairman  President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Titanium Corporation scientists have worked collaboratively with industry, government and private 
research organizations to conceive, develop and test the best available technologies for large scale 
remediation of one of the most complex oil sands tailings streams – “froth treatment tailings.” Six patents 
have been filed. These new innovative technologies recover valuable heavy minerals such as zircon and 
titanium, lost bitumen, solvent and water. This recovery significantly reduces the air, water and land 
environmental impacts of oil sands tailings. Shareholders have invested over $50 million and the Alberta 
and Canadian governments have injected a further $10 million of grant funding. 

Canada has a unique 

opportunity to create a 

new, high value minerals 

export industry and at the 

same time improve the 

environmental performance 

of the oil sands.

Dr. Kevin Moran monitors larger scale paraffinic pilot in operation at CanmetENERGY in November 2012.
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The valuable heavy minerals contained in Alberta’s Athabasca Oil Sands are zircon and titanium. Zircon 
is hard, heat resistant sand used in the manufacture of ceramic tile, refractory, foundry material and 
chemicals. World-wide annual consumption is approximately 1.3 million tons with China and Europe 
being the major markets. Australia and South Africa produce two-thirds of the world’s zircon. Zircon 
prices have more than doubled over the past three years to US$2,400 per ton. Titanium is mainly used 
to make pigment (88%) for paints and plastics where it’s white, refractive qualities act as a protective 
coating. The base price for the majority of titanium produced from mines (ilmenite) is in the range of 
$300 per ton. The Company plans to first produce zircon due to its relative higher value. 

Installation of Titanium’s technology at the four mining sites in operation today would recover over  
$1 billion annually of lost commodity value and reduce VOC (volatile organic compounds) emissions  
by 80%. These benefits would grow over the coming decade as the oil sands expand.

ECONOMIC 
POTENTIAL 
(ANNUAL)

2012 2025

RECOVERY REVENUES RECOVERY REVENUES

ZIRCON 170,000 
tonnes/y

$340M
400,000 
tonnes/y

$800M

BITUMEN 28,000 bpd $700M 70,000 bpd $1.8B

TOTAL ANNUAL $1.0B $2.6B

CAPITAL 
INVESTMENT Total Cumulative $1.5B Total Cumulative $3.0B

ENVIRONMENTAL 
BENEFITS 
 (ANNUAL)

2012 2025

REDUCTION RATE REDUCTION RATE

VOC 60 kt/y 80% 151 kt/y 80%

CO2E 0.8 Mt/y 5.6% 2.4 MT/y 5.6%

NOX 1.9 kt/y 4.2% 5.8 kt/y 4.2%

WATER 25 Mm3 25% 75 Mm3 25%

Company estimates

Installation of Titanium’s 
technology at the four mining 
sites in operation today 
would recover over $1 billion 
annually of lost commodity 
value and reduce VOC 
(volatile organic compounds) 
emissions by 80%.

Flotation cell recovering bitumen and minerals from tailings.
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Our technology is designed to intercept froth treatment tailings before 
discharge to tailings ponds. Recovering incremental lost resources from 
tailings waste streams is low cost and economical at approximately one-third 
the cost of developing new resources in the oil sands. Capital costs of tailings 
recovery of $30,000 per flowing barrel compares with $80,000 for new 
mines; operating costs of $11 per barrel compare with $23 for new mine 
production. New facilities costing about $425 million constructed at large oil 
sands mining sites would generate attractive economic returns. New facilities 
are comprised of three plants shown in green in the diagram below: an on-site 
concentrator to recover heavy mineral concentrates, bitumen, solvent and 
water; an on-site concentrate upgrader to produce zircon concentrate and 
an offsite mineral separation plant to produce zircon products. Recovered 
bitumen, solvent and water would be returned to the oil sands operators’ plant 
where they represent additional value. Minerals products would be shipped 
in containers by train to export points to international markets.

CONCENTRATOR RECYCLE
WATER

DILBITSOLVENT

OIL SANDS 
MINING & 

EXTRACTION

TAILINGS POND

FROTH TREATMENT
BITUMEN 

FROTH
BITUMEN

UPGRADING

CENTRAL MINERALS 
SEPARATION

(off-site)

CONCENTRATE 
UPGRADING 

(on-site)

ZIRCON 
CONCENTRATE

ZIRCON 
PRODUCTS

 INTERNATIONAL
MARKETS

HEAVY MINERAL
CONCENTRATE

Titanium’s 
technology is 
highly efficient, 
economic 
and ready for 
implementation.
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Coarse circuit in operation at CanmetENERGY producing heavy mineral concentrate in November 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended August 31, 2012

Titanium Corporation Inc. (“Titanium” or the “Company”) has prepared the following management’s 
discussion and analysis (the “MD&A”) to provide information to assist shareholders in understanding the 
financial results for the three and twelve month periods ended August 31, 2012. This MD&A should be 
read in conjunction with Titanium’s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended August 31, 
2012 including the notes thereto (the “Financial Statements”). This MD&A is dated as at and based on 
information available to management as of November 14, 2012. The Company is a development stage 
company whose common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “TIC”.

The above referenced material is available on Titanium’s website at www.titaniumcorporation.com  
or it can be found, along with additional information about Titanium, including the Company’s annual 
information form for the year ended August 31, 2011 (the “AIF”), on the System for Electronic 
Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.

The Financial Statements and this MD&A have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (CICA Handbook). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such 
standards effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has 
commenced reporting on this basis in the Financial Statements. Subject to certain transition elections 
and exceptions disclosed in note 15 to the Financial Statements, the Company has consistently applied 
the accounting policies used in the preparation of its opening IFRS statement of financial position at 
September 1, 2010 throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always been in effect. 
Note 15 of the Financial Statements also discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the 
Company’s reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows, including the nature  
and effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used in the Company’s financial 
statements for the year ended August 31, 2011 prepared under Canadian GAAP. All amounts included 
in this MD&A are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified.

This MD&A contains forward-looking information that reflects the current expectations of management 
about the future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities for Titanium. These 
statements generally can be identified by use of forward-looking words such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, 
“estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “project”, “should” or “continue” or the negative thereof or similar 
variations. Forward-looking information is provided in this document in the discussion of Titanium’s 
research and development plans under the heading “Titanium’s Business” and Titanium’s business plans 
for fiscal 2013 under the heading “Update”, and “Next Steps”. Titanium provides forward-looking 
information in order to describe management’s expectations and assist shareholders in understanding 
our financial position as at and for the periods ended on the dates presented in this MD&A. Readers are 
cautioned that this information may not be appropriate for other purposes. Forward-looking statements 
are based upon a number of assumptions and are subject to a number of known and unknown risks and 
uncertainties, many of which are beyond Titanium’s control, which could cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from those that are disclosed in or implied by such 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking information is subject to significant risks and 
uncertainties and is based on a number of Titanium’s expectations and assumptions which may prove 
to be incorrect regarding future stable or increasing prices for zircon and bitumen, stable currency 
exchange rates between the Canadian and US dollars, expected capital expenditures and Titanium’s 
expected future research and development activities. The material risks, uncertainties and other factors 
that could influence actual results include, but are not limited to:
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• Commercialization of the Project (as defined herein) on terms favorable to Titanium, on the timetable 
anticipated or at all;

• Potential fluctuations in our financial and business results make forecasting difficult and may restrict 
our access to funding for our commercialization plan;

• Access to and cost of oil sands tailings necessary to carry out the Project;

• Access to the necessary sources of capital to finance the Project;

• Results of research activities;

• Operational or technical difficulties in connection with successfully completing research activities or 
operating the project;

• Development timeline delays and problems, including negative impacts on Titanium’s technologies 
caused by unforeseen development costs;

• Reliance on a small number of key people to carry out Titanium’s business and research activities;

• Competitors who may develop alternate solutions or Titanium’s intellectual property may not be 
adequately protected; and/or

• Changes to environment laws and regulations which may add significant cost to or impair the 
permitted operation of the Project.

While we anticipate that subsequent events and developments may cause our views to change, 
we do not have an intention to update this forward-looking information except as required by applicable 
securities laws. This forward-looking information represents our views as of the date of this MD&A and 
such information should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the 
date of this document. We have attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to vary from those current expectations or estimates expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking information. However, there may be other factors that cause results, 
performance or achievements not to be as expected or estimated and that could cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from current expectations.

There can be no assurance that this forward-looking information will prove to be accurate as actual 
results and future events could differ materially from those expected or estimated in such statements. 
Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information. These factors are 
not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect the Company. Additional 
information on these and other factors are disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A and in other reports filed 
with the securities regulatory authorities in Canada from time to time and available on SEDAR.

TITANIUM’S BUSINESS

Titanium Corporation’s mission is “Creating Value from Waste™”. The Company has developed innovative 
CVW™ technologies that recover valuable heavy minerals, bitumen, solvent and water from oil sands 
waste tailings (the “Project”). The recovery of bitumen, associated solvents and water will result 
in important and timely environmental improvements for the oil sands industry. In fiscal 2011, 
the Company completed a twelve month demonstration pilot which culminated several years of 
progressive research and development (“R&D”) of its proprietary technologies.

In the mining sector of Canada’s oil sands industry, which is the Company’s area of focus, producers 
surface mine deposits in northern Alberta to extract bitumen (heavy oil trapped in the sands) for further 
processing into synthetic crude oil. Heavy minerals occurring in these oil sands deposits are 
concentrated in tailings during one of the bitumen extraction steps referred to as ‘froth treatment’. Oil 
sands producers currently use either a naphtha or paraffinic based solvent to process bitumen at the 
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froth treatment stage. These solvent based processes result in the loss of bitumen, solvents and heavy 
minerals in froth treatment tailings streams which are currently deposited in tailings ponds. The 
combination of bitumen and solvent losses to tailings ponds results in volatile organic compound (“VOC”) 
and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions. The Company’s technology has been developed for both naphtha 
based and paraffinic froth treatment tailings to meet the current and future needs of all the major oil 
sands operators related to froth treatment tailings remediation.

Four large oil sands mining sites are currently in operation: Syncrude Canada, Suncor Energy, Canadian 
Natural Resources Limited (“CNRL”) and Albian Sands (“Shell”). One new mining site, Imperial Oil Kearl, 
is under construction for commissioning in late 2012 and an additional site, Total Joslyn, has received 
regulatory approval. All of the current and developing sites forecast expansions, which will significantly 
increase Canada’s oil sands mining production in the years ahead. The growth of the oil sands industry 
means that increased volumes of bitumen, solvent, water  and minerals will be generated and lost in 
froth treatment tailings.

To capture this opportunity, over a four year period the Company’s scientists together with research, 
engineering and Government partners, conducted highly disciplined, phased research programs as 
follows:

• Phase I – initial laboratory scale work: the objective was to identify the most prospective laboratory-
based solutions;

• Phase II – continuous bench scale testing: the objective was to provide scaling data for piloting; and

• Phase III – integrated pilot testing: the objective was to demonstrate the operation of the technology 
in an integrated continuous process.

The following summarizes the successful execution of the Company’s programs:

The Company completed Phases I and II, successfully executing a two year research program endorsed 
by the Alberta Government and supported by a $3.5 million Alberta Energy Innovation Fund (“AEIF”) 
grant received in March 2008. The key achievements of the program were the development of 
technologies to remove bitumen from heavy minerals and recover bitumen, solvents and water from 
froth treatment tailings. As a condition of the grant, a Government Advisory Committee to the Company 
was formed, comprised of representatives from the Energy and Environment Ministries, the Energy 
Resources Conservation Board (“ERCB”), Alberta Innovates and the AEIF grant program was extended 
to include partial funding of the Company’s demonstration pilot program. The Company has completed 
all programs associated with the AEIF grant and provided final reports to the Alberta Government.

The success of the R&D program resulted in the award of a $4.9 million Federal Government grant from 
Sustainable Development Technologies Canada (“SDTC”) in September 2009. The SDTC grant was 
utilized by the Company to fund one-third of the integrated demonstration pilot program. The Company 
engaged SNC-Lavalin as its engineering partner for pilot and full scale commercial engineering. 
A consortium comprised of the three naphtha based oil sands producers and Government (Federal 
and Alberta) was formed to facilitate the pilot. The integrated demonstration pilot was engineered and 
operated over an 18 month period and decommissioned in mid- 2011. Tailings from the three naphtha 
based oil sands operators were extensively tested during the program.

From June 2010 through May 2011, the integrated demonstration pilot (Phase III) was operated at 
CanmetENERGY Natural Resources Canada’s Devon, Alberta pilot facility. This facility is the major site 
for the testing of oil sands froth treatment technologies by the oil sands industry. Over 30,000 
independent sample analyses were conducted by Maxxam Analytics during the 12 month pilot program. 
The Company completed demonstration piloting for the three naphtha based oil sands operators 
achieving excellent results: overall bitumen recoveries of up to 80% and solvent recoveries of 75%, 
the top end of targeted ranges; removal of bitumen from heavy minerals concentrate (“HMC”); and 
effective thickening of tailings and recovery of water for recycling.
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Since the completion of the demonstration pilot in mid-2011, the Company has been in discussions 
with oil sands operators and Government promoting the adoption and use of its technologies. The 
Company has also been conducting pilot testing of paraffinic froth treatment tailings for two other oil 
sands firms, completing four weeks of piloting at a third party site, achieving bitumen recoveries of up to 
85%. During and after the demonstration pilot, the Company has been conducting minerals testing 
programs utilizing cleaned HMC to produce final zircon products.

The Company is engaged in the “pre-commercialization” phase working with the oil sands producers, 
Government and partners to reach commercial agreements for implementation at oil sands sites.

UPDATE

The fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 marked a number of significant milestones including the award of a 
key patent, inclusion of the Company’s technology in the oil sands industry’s Technology Roadmap and 
more recently, the award of additional Grant funding by the Canadian Government. While progress is 
continuing, adoption of new technology and associated projects has been very slow. The oil sands 
industry has been faced with a number of emerging issues in 2012 including: capital cost inflation; 
a weaker medium term oil price outlook; increased price differentials between Brent, WTI and Canadian 
crudes and significant uncertainty about the timing of pipeline construction to deliver Canadian crude 
to US and foreign markets. Consequently, the industry has been reassessing the scale and timing of its 
expansion plans, leading to project deferrals, reduced capital budgets, and a slowing of the pace of 
commercialization of the Company’s technology.

The following are highlights of the quarter and year:

• In November 2012, the Canadian Government awarded a further grant of $1.4 million of SDTC 
funding for the Company’s programs. This brings the total of SDTC funding to $6.3 million in addition 
to the earlier $3.5 million of Government of Alberta grant funding of Company programs.

• On October 16, 2012 the Company announced that a key patent had been issued and other patents 
are at advanced stages of issuance. A patent for the removal of bitumen from heavy mineral 
concentrates, Canadian Patent No. 2,693.879 (Moran et al) has been issued by the Canadian Patent 
Office. Other patents relating to the recovery of bitumen and solvents from oil sands froth treatment 
tailings have passed the Canadian Patent Office review process and are expected to be issued in the 
next few months.

• In August, 2012 the Canadian Oil Sands Innovation Alliance (“COSIA”) announced its Technology 
Roadmap and Action Plan. The Company’s technologies have been included in this comprehensive 
review and have been ranked in the top 20 technologies identified by COSIA. The Company’s 
technology is focused on froth treatment tailings and is uniquely positioned as the only prioritized 
technology addressing recovery of valuable commodities and remediation of this tailings stream. 
COSIA was formed in March 2012 by the oil sands industry to accelerate improvements in 
environmental performance in the priority areas of tailings, water, land and greenhouse gas emissions 
through innovation and collaborative action. Organizations such as the Oil Sands Tailings Consortium 
(“OSTC”) and Oil Sands Leadership Initiative (“OSLI”) are being amalgamated under COSIA.

•  Moving forward with commercialization of the Company’s technology is an integrated process 
involving the Company, Government and industry stakeholders. Government’s are providing grant 
funding and are highly supportive. Industry is providing tailings, site access and review of results. 
Clarity on fiscal terms is one of the key elements required for the development of a new minerals 
industry and associated recovery of minerals and bitumen from tailings. The Alberta Government  
is finalizing fiscal programs and incentives for the recovery of valuable resources from oil sands  
waste streams which improve environmental performance.
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• Throughout the year, the Company has been engaged in discussions with oil sands operators, 
preparing and revising proposals and through SNC-Lavalin, additional engineering and costing 
information. Discussions are ongoing and an oil sands operator is finalizing an independent 
engineering review.

• Progress is continuing in minerals and paraffinic technology development. The Company successfully 
completed a series of minerals testing programs in Australia aimed at further refining the mineral 
processing flowsheet and optimizing recoveries. The 2012 testing programs, which used HMC 
samples from the CanmetENERGY demonstration pilot, confirmed an optimal mineral’s processing 
flow-sheet using best available technologies. A minerals program is now underway to produce larger 
product samples for customer testing. The program, planned during the quarter, will be conducted in 
part at CanmetENERGY from October 2012 through February 2013. Concurrently, the Company is 
planning larger volume piloting of its paraffinic froth treatment tailings technology at CanmetENERGY. 
The program will run from November 2012 to February 2013. The paraffinic froth treatment process 
is utilized at oil sands mining sites that do not have on-site upgrading facilities. In the paraffinic 
process, larger portions of bitumen and solvents are discharged to tailings ponds. This represents an 
additional opportunity for deployment of the Company’s technology. The Company has been awarded 
an additional $1.4 million of SDTC grant funding toward these programs.

• The Company’s proposed projects involve the construction and operation of bitumen and minerals 
recovery facilities and a new industry exporting minerals to international markets. The size, complexity 
and risks associated with large projects warrants the Company aligning with strategic partners. The 
Company continues to meet with potential partners interested in participating in the commercial 
projects. These firms variably would bring operations, services and marketing expertise and financial 
resources. Appropriate partners will be selected as industry and Government agree to move forward 
with the first project.

• The Company has broadened its communication programs to stakeholders. During the quarter,  
the Company conducted focused public relations campaigns to inform Canadian and Alberta 
parliamentarians and Ministries of the benefits of its technologies. The Company is encouraged  
by the positive interest from these stakeholders throughout Canada.

• The Alberta and Federal Governments recently announced new initiatives to monitor environmental 
impacts from the oil sands industry including the establishment of an “arms length” science based 
environmental monitoring agency. The Company views these initiatives as positive steps which will 
favor the development and implementation of new technologies such as the Company’s which will 
reduce the oil sands industry’s environmental footprint. Science based assessments are consistent 
with the Company’s disciplined approach to its successful R&D programs which have developed 
solutions for froth treatment tailings.
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NEXT STEPS

In order to commercialize its technology, increase resource recoveries, deliver environmental benefits 
and create a new minerals export industry, the Company is reliant on the oil sands industry and 
Government moving forward with on-site projects and fiscal programs. Implementation of the 
Company’s technology involves the construction of large facilities at oil sands sites which integrate with 
existing oil sands operations. An off-site central minerals facility would process HMC, sourced from 
these on-site facilities, into final minerals products. The facilities may be jointly owned and operated 
along with strategic partners.

Next steps and current status include:

• Finalization of fiscal programs by the Alberta Government and Ministerial approval to establish 
royalties and incentives for heavy minerals and bitumen recovery from tailings: this work is advancing 
well and under review by the responsible Government departments.

• Completion of engineering and internal review processes by oil sands operators, leading to budgeting 
and scheduling on-site facilities projects: third party independent engineering and internal reviews are 
underway by an oil sands operator.

• Finalizing the design of optimal minerals processing facilities: a final minerals flow-sheet has been 
developed and a larger volume bulk sample testing program is underway.

• Partnering, joint venture and financing arrangements: relationships have been established with high 
potential partners.

• Agreements among partners to build and operate the commercial facilities: pending decisions by 
industry and Government on the first project.

Currently, the Company may be regarded as engaged in the “pre-commercialization” phase whereby 
ongoing consultations, planning and negotiations are taking place. The oil sands operators have 
disciplined internal review processes prior to sanctioning on-site projects followed by more detailed 
front end engineering and design (“FEED”). The Company’s objective is to work closely with the oil sands 
operators and Government to reach commercial agreements during this process.

Following FEED, detailed engineering and construction for an initial site implementation is estimated 
to take approximately 30 months. Under the terms of the Government funding, the Company is required 
to develop an industry wide solution for froth treatment tailings. As a result of its collaboration with oil 
sands operators and Government, the Company expects to identify a first adopter of the technology 
and negotiate the terms for commercialization.

The Company has reached this stage because of its successful development and demonstration piloting 
of sustainable technology. The Company’s technology offers a compelling value proposition for the 
recovery of currently wasted resources, the establishment of a new minerals industry and environmental 
improvements through the reduction of harmful emissions and reduced river water consumption. The 
Company remains confident the oil sands industry and Government will continue to move forward.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION & ANALYSIS

Summary of Selected Annual and Quarterly Results

The following table presents a summary of selected annual financial information ($ millions except per 
share data):

 Fiscal Year Ended

 Aug 31, 2012 Aug 31, 2011 Aug 31, 2010**

Net Loss $  2.9 $  10.5 $ 7.0

Net Loss per Share - Basic & Diluted $  0.05 $  0.17 $  0.12

Cash & Short Term Investments* $  8.4 $  12.0 $  9.5

Total Assets $  9.4 $  12.7 $  10.1
*Includes cash equivalents and restricted short term investments 

**Figures were prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and do not reflect any retrospective IFRS conversion adjustments. 

As such the 2010 Canadian GAAP annual figures are not entirely comparable to the 2012 and 2011 IFRS amounts.

The following table summarizes the financial data of the Company for the most recently completed 
eight quarters ($ millions except per share data):

   Q4 
 Aug 31, 2012

 Q3 
 May 31, 2012

 Q2 
 Feb 29, 2012

 Q1 
 Nov 30, 2011

STATEMENT OF LOSS     

Net Loss $  0.5 $  0.4 $  0.6 $  1.4

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share $  0.01 $  0.01 $  0.01 $  0.02

  Q4 
Aug 31, 2011

Q2 
May 31, 2011

Q2 
Feb 28, 2011

Q1 
Nov 30, 2010

STATEMENT OF LOSS     

Net Loss $  1.7 $  3.2 $  2.6 $  3.0

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share $  0.03 $  0.05 $  0.04 $  0.05

The following summarizes the Company’s financial results for the three and twelve month periods ended 
as compared to the same period in 2011:

• Net loss decreased to $0.5 million for the three month period ended August 31, 2012 compared to 
a loss of $1.7 million for the three month period ended August 31, 2011. The decrease in net loss 
relates primarily to the reduction in R&D costs in the current quarter as compared with the prior year’s 
quarter as the Company’s focus is now on commercializing the technologies rather than operating the 
demonstration pilot program as in the prior year. Total R&D spending in the quarter was $0.6 million 
which was offset by the recognition of a refundable tax credit of $0.4 million from the Alberta 
Scientific Research and Experimental Development (“SR&ED”) tax credit program for eligible R&D 
expenditures incurred in the province for the 2011 fiscal year. Net loss for the fiscal year ended 
August 31, 2012 was $2.9 million compared to $10.5 million for the prior year ended August 31, 
2011. The decrease in the loss relates primarily to the reduction in R&D spending to $0.9 million for 
the year ended August 31, 2012 from $6.6 million for the year ended August 31, 2011. General and 
administrative (“G&A”) expense was also lower at $2.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2012 
from $4.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2011 primarily as a result of stock based 
compensation expense recognized in fiscal 2012. Stock based compensation expense in the current 
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year was a recovery of $0.1 million as compared to an expense of $2.7 million in the prior fiscal year. 
The recovery of stock based compensation in the current year was the result of the reversal of 
previously recognized stock based compensation expense for the second performance milestone due 
to a change in management estimates related to the timing of achieving certain milestones. 
Performance stock options, issued in the second quarter of 2011, were forfeited on June 1, 2012 
as the performance milestone of concluding a definitive agreement with an oil sands operator (first 
adopter) for the development of the Corporation’s process was not satisfied by the target date 
of June 1, 2012.

• The Company had $8.4 million in cash at August 31, 2012 as compared to $12.0 million at  
August 31, 2011. All of the cash balances are liquid and are held in interest bearing cash accounts 
with major Canadian chartered banks. The decrease in cash of $3.6 million for the year ended August 
31, 2012 relates to R&D activities and G&A expenses incurred in the current fiscal year.

• The Company has accounts receivable in the amount of $0.9 million, of which $0.5 million is receivable 
from SDTC and represents the 10% holdback on the original grant of $4.9 million. The Company has 
met the key conditions under the SDTC Contribution Agreement for recovery of this balance. To date, 
the Company has received a total of $4.4 million from SDTC under the terms of the contribution 
agreement dated January, 2010. The remaining balance, of $0.4 million, is a refundable tax credit 
from the Alberta SR&ED tax credit program for eligible R&D expenditures incurred in the province  
for the 2011 fiscal year. The Company has filed the SR&ED claim for fiscal year ended 2011  
and was eligible for the maximum refundable amount of $0.4 million. The Company received  
$0.4 million in May of 2012 for the refundable tax credit for the 2010 SR&ED claim.

• There was no restricted short-term investment balance at the end of August 31, 2012. The previous 
restricted investment balance related to a certificate of deposit which was pledged as security to a 
chartered bank for a letter of credit issued by the bank to the Alberta Government in respect of the 
AEIF Grant. The letter of credit expired on June 30, 2011 and the investment was consolidated with 
the cash in the interest bearing cash accounts.

Research and Development (“R&D”) Expenditures

Below is a summary of the R&D expenditures by major category ($ thousands):

 Three Months Ended  Fiscal Year Ended

   August  
31, 2012

 August  
31, 2011

 Increase 
(Decrease) 

  August  
31, 2012

 August  
31, 2011

Increase 
(Decrease)

Compensation and 
benefits

$  262 $  259 $  3 $  715 $  731 $ (16)

Pilot plant, rent and other 308  574  (266) 996  7,983 (6,987)

Government grant  –  (63) 63 –  (2,777) 2,777
Refundable SR&ED  

tax credit
 
 (400)

 
 –

 
 (400)

 
 (800)

 
 –

 
 (800)

Stock-based compensation * – 118 (118)  (10)  632 (642)

 $  170 $  888 $ (718)  $  901 $ 6,569 $ (5,668)
*Stock-based compensation has been allocated to R&D and G&A as the Company transitioned to IFRS in fiscal 2012.

15
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2012



R&D spending in the fourth quarter was $0.2 million for the three month period ended August 31, 2012 
as compared to $0.9 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2011. The decrease is the result of 
reduced expenditures on R&D projects, in addition to the recognition of $0.4 million from the Alberta 
Government for the refundable portion of the SR&ED claim filed for the 2011 fiscal year. While 
compensation and benefits remained consistent with the prior fiscal year, spending on R&D related 
projects decreased by $7.0 million over the comparable fiscal period as the pilot was decommissioned  
in May of 2011 and R&D expenses decreased as the projects were substantially completed.  
All government grant recovery was recognized upon completion of the demonstration pilot. The 
decrease in stock based compensation expense for the quarter and the fiscal year end August 31, 
2012 also contributed to the reduction in R&D spending in the current fiscal year.

R&D spending in the quarter consisted of the continued minerals development work and on-going 
projects related to paraffinic froth treatment tailings.

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenditures

The following table provides details of G&A expenditures for the periods noted ($ thousands):

Three Months Ended Fiscal Year Ended

 August 
 31, 2012

 August  
 31, 2011

 Increase 
 (Decrease)

 August  
 31, 2012

 August  
 31, 2011

 Increase  
 (Decrease)

Compensation  
and benefits

 
$  118

 
$  154

 
$  (36)

 
$ 775

 
$  776

 
$ (1)

Consulting and 
professional fees

 
 48

 
  123

 
 (75)

 
 426

 
 358

 
 68

Directors’ fees 63  60 3 275 299 (24)

Travel 18  19 (1) 178 138 40
Rent, insurance  

and office
 
 39

  
 45

 
 (6)

 
 216

 
 214

 
 2

Investor relations  
and regulatory

 
 54

  
 51

 
 3

 
 282

 
 259

 
 23

Stock-based 
compensation*

 
 19

  
 419

 
 (400)

 
 (66)

  
 2,023

 
 (2,089)

$  359 $ 871 $ (512) $ 2,086 $  4,067 $  (1,981)
*Stock based compensation has been allocated to R&D and G&A as the Company transitioned to IFRS in fiscal 2012.

• G&A expense was $0.4 million for the three month period ended August 31, 2012 compared to $0.9 
million for the same period ended August 31, 2011. The reduction in G&A expenditures for the 
quarter and the year ended August 31, 2012 is related to the reduction in stock based compensation 
expense associated with the granting of 75,000 options in fiscal 2012 compared to 3,150,000 
options in fiscal 2011.

• For the three month period ended August 31, 2012, consulting and professional fees were lower from 
the prior year due to the timing of recognizing certain accruals related to professional services as 
revised under IFRS. During the 2012 fiscal year, the Company has increased spending on consulting 
and professional fees as advances were made with the pre-commercialization activities related to 
partnering programs and the establishment of fiscal regimes with the Alberta Government.

• Director’s fees for the three month period and fiscal year ended August 31, 2012 were lower than the 
comparable periods in fiscal 2011 when the Company undertook a private placement and additional 
meeting fees were incurred.
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• Interest income decreased to $0.02 million for the three month period ended August 31, 2012 from 
$0.03 million for the same period in fiscal 2011, reflecting a decrease in the Company’s cash 
balances over the comparable three month period ended August 31, 2011.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company had $8.4 million in cash at August 31, 2012, which compares to $12.0 million  
at August 31, 2011. The Company’s cash balances consist of interest bearing cash accounts  
held at Schedule I Canadian chartered banks. The Company is in the pre-commercialization stage as  
it has yet to earn any revenues and is devoting substantially all of its efforts toward commercialization  
of the Project. The recoverability of amounts expended on R&D to date, is dependent on the ability of 
the Company to complete pre-commercialization activities, commercialization at oil sands sites, and 
achieve future profitable operations. The Company is dependent on raising funds through the issuance 
of shares, government grants and/or attracting partners in order to undertake further development and 
commercialization of its technology. The Company may not be successful in these endeavors.

The Company has sufficient cash, and remaining government grants to fund its R&D and G&A costs  
for at least the next twelve months. Options available to the Company to fund its future cash 
requirements include, but are not limited to, new or additional government grants and/or issuances  
of securities and/or some form of partnership or joint venture.

The following is a summary of the cash flows for the periods noted:

• Cash used in operating activities for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012 was $3.7 million 
compared to $11.9 million for the year ended August 31, 2011. The decrease in cash used in 
operations during the fiscal year was due to the reduction in R&D expenses related to the completion 
of the demonstration pilot.

• Cash spent on investing activities was $ 0.001 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012, as 
compared to $2.7 million for 2011, representing the reduction of unrestricted and restricted short 
term investments.

• Cash provided from financing activities for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012 was $0.1 million 
related to the exercise of 114,700 stock options, as compared to $14.5 million in fiscal 2011 when 
the Company completed a private placement of securities for gross proceeds of $14.3 million.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors

The Company has for accounting purposes, designated its cash and cash equivalents as fair value through 
profit and loss, which are measured at fair value; goods and services tax receivable, government grant 
receivable, short-term investments and restricted short-term investments as loans and receivables. 
Accounts payables and accrued liabilities are classified for accounting purposes as other financial 
liabilities. The Company estimates that both the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company’s 
financial instruments are approximately equivalent because of the short-term nature of the assets.

Financial Risk

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial, credit, liquidity and market risks, including 
interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks.

Financial risk management is carried out by the Company’s management team with guidance from the 
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides guidance for 
enterprise risk management.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash 
equivalents are held with Schedule I Canadian Chartered banks which are reviewed by management. 
Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to financial instruments is minimal.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will 
have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due. As at August 31, 2012, the Company had an 
aggregate cash and cash equivalents of $8.4 million ($12.0 million, August 31, 2011) to settle current 
liabilities of $0.6 million ($1.1 million, August 31, 2011). Most of the Company’s financial liabilities have 
contractual terms of 30 days or less.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates  
and foreign exchange rates.

a) Interest rate risk

The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in bankers’ acceptances and guaranteed 
investment certificates issued by Schedule I Canadian banks. The Company periodically monitors  
its investments and the creditworthiness of the banks it holds investments in. As at August 31, 2012, 
the Company has no bankers’ acceptances, guaranteed investment certificates or interest-bearing debt.

b) Foreign currency risk

The Company’s reporting and functional currency is the Canadian dollar and most purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. Some research and development expense is denominated in US dollars 
and to a lesser extent Australian dollars. The Company does not hold any significant balances in foreign 
currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign exchange risk. Any impact from fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates would be minimal and therefore the Company does not hedge its foreign exchange risk.

The Company manages the risks relating to the financial instruments by holding cash in interest bearing 
accounts at Schedule I Canadian chartered banks. The income statement includes interest income and 
foreign exchange losses which are associated with the Company’s financial instruments.

Related Party Transactions

The Company does not have any related party transactions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Accounting Standards Change to International Financial Reporting  
Standards “IFRS”

In fiscal 2012, the Company transitioned to IFRS. To facilitate this process, the Company retained 
consultants to assist with the IFRS conversion project. Through assistance with respect to preparation 
of reconciliations of historical Canadian GAAP financial statements to IFRS and training, the Company 
had obtained sufficient understanding of IFRS for implementation purposes. As part of management’s 
analysis of potential changes to significant accounting policies, the Company assessed what changes 
would be required to its accounting systems and business processes. The Company believes that the 
changes required were minimal and current systems and processes accommodate the necessary 
changes. The Company did not identify any contractual arrangements that were affected by changes  
to significant accounting policies.

The accounting and disclosure differences identified by the Company upon transition to IFRS are 
summarized below:

Impact on Financial Statement Presentation, Classification and Disclosure

The components of a complete set of IFRS financial statements are: statements of financial position 
(balance sheet), statement of income and comprehensive income, statement of changes in shareholder’s 
equity, statements of cash flows, and notes including accounting policies. The income statement is 
classified by each major functional area – research and development and general and administration.  
In addition, IFRS requires more detailed note disclosure than previously required under Canadian GAAP.

Impact on the Company

The Company reformatted its financial statements to comply with IFRS and elected to retain its 
existing presentation.

IFRS 1 Transitional Policy Choices and Exceptions for Retrospective Application

IFRS 1 contains the following policy choices with respect to first-time adoption that are applicable  
to the Company:

Property, Plant & Equipment

IFRS 1 provides a choice between measuring property, plant and equipment at its fair value at the date of 
transition and using those amounts as deemed cost or using the historical cost basis under Canadian GAAP.

Impact on the Company

The Company elected to use the historical cost carrying values for property, plant and equipment as 
determined under Canadian GAAP for transitional purposes. The historical cost carrying values under 
Canadian GAAP approximate the depreciated cost of equipment in accordance with IFRS.

Mandatorily Applicable Standards with Retrospective Application  
(i.e.. Not Specifically Exempt Under IFRS 1)
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Intangible Assets – Research & Development Assets

The Company completed a large research program and received grants from the Alberta Government’s 
AEIF to assist in a two-year program.

IFRS: IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” deals with the criteria for the recognition of research versus 
development phases and impairment testing. Expenditures incurred in the research phase are required 
to be expensed as incurred and expenditures incurred in the development phase are allowed to be 
capitalized if certain requisite criteria are met. Impairment of intangible assets is to be considered each 
reporting period.

Impact on the Company

The Company retroactively adopted, in the fourth quarter ended August 31, 2009, the new CICA 
Handbook Section 3450, “Research and Development Costs”, with no impact on the financial 
statements. The Company’s R&D expenditures were not impacted by the transition to IFRS as CICA 
Section 3450 has been converged with IAS 38, Intangible Assets.

Government Grants

The Company participated in the following Government incentive programs:

1) AEIF – The Company was awarded a $3.5 million AEIF grant from the Province of Alberta to assist 
the Company in its research in recovering heavy minerals and bitumen from oil sands froth treatment 
tailings streams.

2) SDTC Contribution Agreement – In January 2010, the Company entered into the Contribution 
Agreement with SDTC, to financially assist the Company in developing and demonstrating its 
technology.

IFRS: Under IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, 
government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with 
the relevant conditions attached to the grant and the grants will be receivable.

Impact on the Company

The Company’s recognition policy under Canadian GAAP is consistent with IAS 20.

Share Based Compensation

The Company, under Canadian GAAP, accounted for all stock-based payments granted to employees 
and non-employees using the fair value method in accordance with the CICA Handbook Section 3870, 
“Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments” which required entities to account for 
employee stock options using the fair value based method.

IFRS: Under IFRS 2, “Share Based Payments”, graded vesting awards are accounted for as though each 
installment is a separate award. IFRS does not provide for an election to treat the instruments as a pool 
and recognize expense on a straight line basis. Also under IFRS, the estimates of the number of equity 
settled awards that vest are adjusted to the actual number that vests unless forfeitures are due to 
market-based conditions.
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Impact on the Company

The Company previously recognized stock-based compensation expense on a straight line basis  
under Canadian GAAP and therefore recorded transitional adjustments for options unvested  
at September 1, 2010 under IFRS. The impact of this adjustment at the date of transition was 
$136,685 increase in deficit and $136,685 increase in contributed surplus.

Canadian GAAP Adjustments – Employee Benefits

As a result of analyzing employee benefit arrangements in connection with the transition of IFRS 
the Company re-evaluated the accounting for certain short-term employee benefits. Previously, 
compensation expense was recognized in the year the benefit was approved by the Board of Directors. 
Under the new policy, the compensation expense is recognized as service is provided.

Impact on the Company

The change resulted in an increase in accrued liabilities of $301,660 as at August 31, 2011  
and $253,166 at September 1, 2010 and an increase in expenses and deficit of $48,500  
for the year ended August 31, 2011.

Information Systems and Processes and Controls

The Company concluded that the adoption of IFRS did not have a pervasive impact on its systems and 
processes. The Company implemented minor changes to the general ledger account descriptions as well 
as methodologies previously used to calculate specific financial statement areas such as asset 
impairment and stock-based compensation. As the accounting policies were selected, appropriate 
changes to ensure the integrity of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and 
procedures were made.

Impact on Transition Date

Financial Position and Previously Reported Financial Results

September 1, 2010 – Transitional Balance Sheet
As a result of the aforementioned IFRS differences and Canadian GAAP adjustments, the Company’s 
deficit at September 1, 2010 increased by $389,771 under IFRS, due to the recognition of additional 
stock-based compensation expense ($136.685) and inclusion of accruals related to employee benefits 
($253,086) at the date of transition.

August 31, 2011 – Previous Interim Financial Statements
As a result of the aforementioned IFRS differences and Canadian GAAP adjustments, the Company’s 
deficit at August 31, 2011 increased by $509,933 under IFRS, due to the recognition of the cumulative 
additional stock-based compensation expense ($208,267) and inclusion of accruals related to 
employee benefits ($301,666) at August 31, 2011.
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RISKS

This discussion on risks is not all-inclusive and other factors may affect the Company in the future. 
Please refer to our statement of risks and uncertainties more particularly described and updated  
in the Company’s Annual Information Form (AIF) on SEDAR (www.sedar.com). The following conditions 
currently known to management may have a material impact on the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company in the future.

• The Company may not be able to achieve commercialization of the Project on terms favorable to 
Titanium, on the timetable anticipated or at all. Our CVW™ process represents an emerging market, 
and we do not know whether oil sands producers will adopt our CVW™ process in their operations. The 
development of a market for our CVW™ process may be affected by many factors, some of which are 
beyond our control, including the emergence of newer, more competitive technologies and processes, 
the cost of building facilities to run our CVW™ process, regulatory requirements, the perception of oil 
sands producers of the viability and necessity of our CVW™ process and their reluctance to adopt new 
technologies and processes.

• If a market for our CVW™ process fails to develop, or develops more slowly than we anticipate, we may 
never achieve profitability. We are dependent upon oil sands producers to adopt and integrate our 
CVW™ process in their oil sands operations.

• The Company expects its cash reserves will be reduced due to future R&D expenditures, 
commercialization activities, and G&A expenses and cannot provide certainty as to how long the cash 
reserves will last or that the Company will be able to access additional capital when necessary.

• Potential fluctuations in financial and business results and conditions make forecasting difficult for 
furthering the Project and may restrict access to funding for a commercialization plan. We are also 
subject to normal operating risks such as operational and technical risk, credit risks, foreign currency 
risks and fluctuations in commodity prices. It is possible that in one or more future quarters, our results 
may fall below the expectations of investors and securities analysts. Not meeting investor and security 
analyst expectations may materially and adversely impact the trading price of our common shares and 
restrict our ability to secure required funding to pursue our commercialization plans.

• Exchange rate and commodity price fluctuations are beyond the Company’s control and may have a 
material adverse effect on its business, operating results, financial condition and future profitability.

• Markets for the heavy minerals have not been established and may take longer to develop  
than anticipated.

• The costs for large capital intensive projects in the oil sands are difficult to forecast and there is no 
assurance that the capital expenditures and operating costs required to commercialize any products 
resulting from the Project will not be significantly higher than planned.

• The Company is in the pre-commercialization stage and has limited experience with completing a 
commercial operation for a new business.

• The Company is dependent on third party suppliers and the oil sands operators for the supply of key 
materials and components for the Project. Currently the Company does not have contracts in place for 
these supplies and there can be no guarantees as to when these contracts will be put in place, if at all.
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• Regulatory or environmental law changes may impact negatively on the Project and the market  
for the Company’s products.

• Once the Project is developed, the Company could be liable for environmental damages resulting  
from research activities or commercial operations.

• Failure to protect intellectual property could adversely affect the Company’s success and growth. 
Intellectual property litigation may cause the Company to incur significant expenses or prevent  
the Company from successfully completing or operating the Project.

• The Company could fail to attract and retain the personnel necessary to run its business.

• Competitors may discover solutions to remove and recover bitumen and minerals prior  
to the successful commercialization of the Project.

OTHER INFORMATION

Outstanding Share Data – as at November 14, 2012:

Number of common shares – issued and outstanding 64,179,416

Number of options to purchase common shares 4,340,400

COMPLIANCE

Mr. Neil Dawson, Principal of Titanatek (Pty) Ltd. of Australia, and a registered member of AusIMM  
is the independent consultant who acts as the Qualified Person for the Company on the Project.
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November 14, 2012

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Titanium Corporation Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Titanium Corporation Inc., which comprise 
the statements of financial position as at August 31, 2012, August 31, 2011, and September 1, 
2010, and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and 
cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011 and the related notes, which 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Titanium Corporation Inc. as at August 31, 2012, August 31, 2011, and September 1, 2010 and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended August 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011  
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants 
Edmonton, Alberta
“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 

 
 August 31,  
 2012 

 August 31,  
 2011 

 September 1, 
 2010

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,385,863 $ 12,025,482 $  6,777,638

Short-term investments  – –  2,267,653

Restricted short-term investment (note 4)  – – 425,799

Research tax credits receivable (note 4) 400,000 – –

Goods and services tax receivable 43,228 18,777 293,146

Eligible grant funding receivable (note 4) 491,850 491,850 –

Prepaid expenses 45,478 89,224 256,577

9,366,419 12,625,333 10,020,813
Equipment (note 5) 31,260 37,913 56,899

Total assets $ 9,397,679 $ 12,663,246 $ 10,077,712

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payable 174,646 456,459 1,711,592

Accrued liabilities 459,376 596,172 1,068,766

634,022 1,052,631 2,780,358
Government grants (note 4) – – 1,459,865

Total liabilities $ 634,022 $ 1,052,631 $ 4,240,223

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital (note 6) 60,104,658 59,929,848 48,386,821

Contributed surplus 13,954,628 14,099,981 9,335,684

Deficit (65,295,629) (62,419,214) (51,885,016)

Total shareholders’ equity 8,763,657 11,610,615 5,837,489

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 9,397,679 $ 12,663,246 $ 10,077,712

Reporting entity and recoverability (note 1)

Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (note 15)

 Approved by the Board of Directors

“Scott Nelson”   “Eric W. Slavens” 

Director  Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011 

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

2012 2011

Expenses

General and administrative (note 11) $ 2,086,301 $ 4,067,270

Research and development (note 11) 901,069 6,569,378

Other operating expenses 15,695 30,088

Losses before interest income 3,003,065 10,666,736

Other income

Interest (126,650) (132,538)

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ 2,876,415 $ 10,534,198

Basic loss per share (note 7) $ (0.05) $ (0.17)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Share 
 capital

 Contributed 
 surplus

 
 Deficit

 Shareholders’ 
 equity

Balance  
– September 1, 2011

 
$ 59,929,848

 
$ 14,099,981

 
$ (62,419,214)

 
$ 11,610,615

Net loss for the year – – (2,876,415) (2,876,415)
Stock-based compensation 

– net (note 6)
 
 –

 
 (75,164)

 
 –

 
 (75,164)

Exercise of  
stock options (note 6)

 
 174,810

 
 (70,189)

 
 –

 
 104,621

Balance – August 31, 2012 $ 60,104,658 $ 13,954,628 $ (65,295,629) $ 8,763,657

 Share 
 capital

 Contributed  
 surplus Deficit

 Shareholders’  
 equity

Balance 
 – September 1, 2010

$ 48,386,821 $ 9,335,684 $ (51,885,016) $ 5,837,489

Net loss for the year – – (10,534,198) (10,534,198)
Private placement – net of 

issue costs (note 6)
 
 10,981,317

 
 2,313,324

 
 –

 
 13,294,641

Stock-based  
compensation (note 6)

 
 –

 
 2,655,367

 
 –

 
 2,655,367

Exercise of  
stock options (note 6)

 
 561,710

 
 (204,394)

 
 –

 
 357,316

Balance – August 31, 2011 $ 59,929,848 $ 14,099,981 $ (62,419,214) $  11,610,615

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011 

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011 

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

2012 2011

Cash (used in) provided by

Operating activities
Net loss for the year $ (2,876,415) $ (10,534,198)

Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 8,140 18,986

Stock-based compensation (note 6) (75,164) 2,655,367

Government grant recovery  – (2,285,473)

(2,943,439) (10,145,318)

Net change in non-cash working capital items

Research tax credit receivable (400,000)  – 

Goods and services tax receivable (24,451) 274,369

Eligible grant funding receivable  – (491,850)

Prepaid expenses and other assets 43,746 167,353

Trade and other payables and accrued liabilities (418,609) (1,727,727)

(3,742,753) (11,923,173)

Investing activities

Purchase of equipment (note 5) (1,487)  – 

Decrease in short-term investments  – 2,267,653

Decrease in restricted short-term investments  – 425,799

(1,487) 2,693,452

Financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of stock options (note 6) 104,621 357,316

Proceeds from private placement, net of issue costs  – 13,294,641

Government grant proceeds  – 825,608

104,621 14,477,565

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,639,619) 5,247,844
Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year 12,025,482 6,777,638

Cash and cash equivalents – End of year $ 8,385,863 $ 12,025,482

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

1. Reporting entity and recoverability

Titanium Corporation Inc. (the Company) is a public company domiciled in, and governed by, the laws of 
Canada. Titanium was formed upon the amalgamation of Titanium Corporation of Canada Limited and 
NAR Resources Ltd. under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on July 24, 2001. On March 19, 
2009, the Company was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act. The Company does 
not have any subsidiaries.

The Company’s principal business office is Suite 1400, 10025 – 106th Street, Edmonton, Alberta,  
T5J 1G4 and the Company’s registered office is located at Suite 101, 50 Richmond Street East, 
Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1N7. The Company’s shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Venture Exchange 
under the ticker symbol “TIC”.

Titanium Corporation’s mission is “Creating Value from Waste™”. The Company has developed innovative 
CVW™ technologies that recover valuable heavy minerals, bitumen, solvent and water from oil sands 
waste tailings. The recovery of bitumen, associated solvents and water will result in important and timely 
environmental improvements for the oil sands industry. In 2011, the Company completed a twelve-
month demonstration pilot, which culminated several years of progressive research and development 
(R&D) of its proprietary technologies.

The Company is in the development stage as it has yet to earn any revenues and is devoting 
substantially all of its efforts toward research and development of this process. Currently there are 
no contractual rights or obligations related to the oil sands project. The recoverability of amounts 
expended on R&D, is dependent on the ability of the Company to complete pre-commercialization 
activities, commercialization at oil sands sites, and achieve future profitable operations. The Company 
is dependent on raising funds through the issuance of shares, government grants and/or attracting 
partners in order to undertake further development and commercialization of its technology. The 
Company may not be successful in these endeavours.

2. Basis of presentation and adoption of IFRS

These financial statements of the Company have been approved by the Board of Directors  
on November 14, 2012. These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which  
is the Company’s functional currency.

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(CICA Handbook). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), and require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards 
effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has commenced 
reporting on this basis in these financial statements. In these financial statements, the term (Canadian 
GAAP) refers to Canadian GAAP before the adoption of IFRS.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Subject to certain transition 
elections and exceptions disclosed in note 15, the Company has consistently applied the accounting 
policies used in the preparation of its opening IFRS statement of financial position at September 1, 2010 
throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always been in effect. Note 15 discloses the 
impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported financial position, financial performance and 
cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used in 
the Company’s financial statements for the year ended August 31, 2011 prepared under Canadian GAAP.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make critical 
accounting estimates and judgements that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and accompanying notes. These estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the actual results. Management considers the following areas to be those where critical accounting 
policies affect the significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the Company’s 
financial statements.

a) Fair value of stock options and performance based stock options

Determining the fair value of stock options and performance based stock options requires judgement 
related to the choice of a pricing model, the estimation of stock price volatility, the expected term of 
the underlying instruments and the estimation of the risk free interest rate.

The measurement of compensation expense related to performance based stock options also 
requires estimates and judgements to be made in determining the probability that performance 
milestones will be met and the resulting number of options that will ultimately vest.

b) Research tax credits receivable

The research tax credits receivable are not certain until received; as such judgement is applied to 
determine when that receipt is delivered to be virtually certain prior to recording the credit.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention except for the 
measurement of warrants and share-based payments, which are measured initially at fair value.

Foreign currency

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the 
Company. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at period end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency 
are recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss in “other operating expenses”.

Government grants

The Company periodically receives financial assistance under Government incentive programs. 
Government grants are recognized initially as deferred revenue at fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with the conditions associated with 
the grant. Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognized as an adjustment 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

to research and development expense on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses 
are incurred. Grants that compensate the Company for the cost of an asset are recognized in profit and 
loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. Forgivable loans from the government are 
treated as government grants when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will meet the terms 
for forgiveness of the loan.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank balances net of outstanding cheques, 
which have not cleared the bank at a period end. Also included are short-term investments with maturity 
dates of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments are comprised of certificates of investment with original maturity dates of 
twelve months but which are all redeemable within 30 days of the issue date. The Company’s short-term 
investments are held with schedule 1 Canadian banks where management believes the risk of loss to be 
minimal. 

Equipment

Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation is recorded on the declining balance basis at rates between 20% and 50% as appropriate 
for the type of equipment.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate.

Research and development expenditures

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge and understanding is recognized in profit or loss when incurred.

Where a product or process is technically and commercially feasible, production and sale are intended, a 
market exists, expenditures can be measured reliably and sufficient resources are available to complete 
the project, development costs are capitalized. No development costs have been capitalized to date. 

Share capital

Common shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from shareholders’ equity, net 
of any tax effects. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company grants stock options to directors and employees of the Company. Each tranche in an 
award is considered a separate award with its own vesting period and grant date fair value. Fair value 
of each tranche is measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair 
value of options granted is recognized as stock-based compensation expense, with a corresponding 
increase in contributed surplus, over the period that the individual becomes unconditionally entitled to 
the options. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options 
for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the 
amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of share options that do meet the 
related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. 

Warrants

The Company issued warrants in connection with its most recent financing. Fair value of the warrants 
is measured at the date of issue using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The fair value of warrants is 
included as a component of Contributed Surplus.

Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using 
tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of prior years.

Deferred tax is recognized with respect to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits, and deductable temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against which they 
can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Earnings (loss) per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (EPS) data for its common shares. Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined 
by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. The Company’s 
potentially dilutive common shares comprise of stock options granted to its employees and directors and 
warrants issued as part of the Company’s most recent equity financing. The number of shares included 
with respect to stock options and warrants is computed using the treasury stock method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Financial assets

The Company has non-derivative financial assets, which have been classified as loans and receivables. 
Management determines the appropriate classification upon initial recognition. All financial assets are 
initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables are comprised of cash and cash 
equivalents, refundable tax credits, goods and services tax receivable, grant funding receivable and 
short-term investments. Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be 
received, less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a 
provision for impairment.

Financial liabilities

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables. Such 
financial liabilities are classified as other liabilities and are initially measured at fair value less any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Impairment

a) Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of 
that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of measuring recoverable 
amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units or CGUs). Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the 
relevant asset or CGU, as determined by management). The Company evaluates impairment losses 
for potential reversals when events or circumstances warrant such consideration. 

New standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the 
current reporting period, and therefore have not been applied in preparing the financial statements. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009 and addresses classification and 
measurement of financial assets. It replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 
for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having only two categories: amortized cost 
and fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments. 
Such instruments are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (OCI).

Requirements for financial liabilities were added to IFRS 9 in October 2010 and they largely carried 
forward existing requirements in IAS 39, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, except 
that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss are 
generally recorded in other comprehensive income. 

IFRS 9 was originally published with an effective date for years beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
IFRS 9 was amended in December 2011 to defer the effective date to years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2015.

The Company has not yet assessed the impact of this standard.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and 
disclosure for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, at the measurement date. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and disclosing fair 
value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and does not always 
reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures. The new standard is effective for years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Adoption of IFRS 13 is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Company.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended to require entities to separate items 
presented in OCI into two groups, based on whether or not items may be recycled in the future. Entities 
that choose to present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the 
two groups separately. The amendment is effective for years beginning on or after July 1, 2012 with 
earlier application permitted. Adoption of this amendment is not expected to have a significant impact 
on the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

4. Government assistance

Alberta Energy Innovation Fund (AEIF) Grant

On March 28, 2008, the Company was awarded a $3.5 million Energy Innovation Fund Grant (the Grant) 
from the Province of Alberta to assist the Company in its research in recovering heavy minerals and 
bitumen from oil sands froth treatment tailings streams. The Grant matched the Company’s expenditure 
and represented half of the total program expenses of $7 million for a two year program. The program 
was completed on March 31, 2011. The recovery of the AEIF grant recognized in the statement of loss 
and comprehensive loss was $nil for the year ended August 31, 2012 (2011 – $ 206,089).

As a condition of the Grant, the Company issued a letter of credit (LC) to the Province of Alberta, which, 
under certain circumstances, would allow the Province of Alberta to recover the balance of funds 
advanced. The LC was secured by restricted cash and was reduced as eligible expenditures were 
incurred. The letter of credit expired on June 30, 2011 and the associated cash became unrestricted.

Sustainable Development Technology Canada (SDTC) Contribution Agreement

In January 2010, the Company entered into a Contribution Agreement with SDTC, to financially assist 
the Company in developing and demonstrating its CVW ™ technology. Under the terms of the agreement 
SDTC contributed up to the lesser of 30.75% of eligible project costs or $4,919,212. The government 
grant recovery from SDTC is recognized on a matching basis as the Company incurs expenditures on the 
specific projects under the terms of the Contribution Agreement. 

The funding received to date of $4,427,362, has been spent in its entirety and the Company has an 
amount recoverable of $491,850, representing a 10% holdback on the value of the original grant. 
The Company has met the key conditions under the SDTC Contribution Agreement for recovery of this 
balance. The Company expects collection of the holdback within the next 12 months.

The following table summarizes the balance of the grants as at:

 August 31,  
 2012

 August 31,  
 2011

AEIF grant balance – September 1 $  – $ 204,688

Interest earned – net  – 1,401

Eligible expenditures  – (206,089)

AEIF grant balance – August 31  –  – 

SDTC grant balance – September 1 (491,850) 1,255,177

SDTC grant received  – 824,207

Eligible expenditures  – (2,571,234)

SDTC grant balance – August 31 (491,850) (491,850)

Total government grants – August 31 $ (491,850) $ (491,850)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

4. Government assistance (continued)

Scientific Research and Experimental Development (SR&ED) Tax Incentive Program 

The Alberta SR&ED tax credit program provides a refundable tax credit to qualified corporations that 
incur eligible R&D expenditures in the province. During the year, the Company recognized $800,000 
of refundable tax credits related to fiscal 2010 and 2011 SR&ED claims, which were treated as a 
reduction of R&D expense in the period. The Company received in cash, $400,000 as a refundable tax 
credit during the year for the 2010 SR&ED claim and has filed its fiscal 2011 SR&ED claim recognizing 
the maximum refundable credit of $400,000 as accounts receivable. 

5. Equipment

 August 31,  
 2012

 August 31,  
 2011

 September 1,  
 2010

Cost $  98,799 $  98,799 $  98,799

Additions 1,487  –  – 

Accumulated depreciation (69,026) (60,886) (41,900)

Net book value $  31,260 $  37,913 $  56,899

6. Share capital

Authorized
Unlimited number of common shares without par value

Issued 2012 2011

Number of 
common shares

 
 Amount

Number of 
common shares 

 
 Amount

Balance – September 1 64,064,716 $ 59,929,848 56,465,150 $ 48,386,821
Private placement – net of 

warrant value 
 
  – 

 
  – 

 
 7,165,500

 
 12,081,203

Share issue costs  –  –  – (1,099,884)
Issued for cash pursuant  

to option plan
 
 114,700

 
 104,621

 
 434,066

 
 357,314

Reallocation from 
contributed surplus 
relating to the exercise  
of stock options

 
 
 
  – 

 
 
 
 70,189

 
 
 
  – 

 
 
 
 204,394

Balance – August 31 64,179,416 $ 60,104,658 64,064,716 $ 59,929,848

On December 15, 2010, the Company completed a private placement (the Placement), issuing 
7,165,500 units (the Units) of the Company for total gross proceeds of $14,331,000 ($2.00/unit). 
Each Unit consisted of one common share and one half of one share purchase warrant (the Warrants) 
(note 9). Related to the placement, the Company incurred $852,060 in cash commissions, issued 
426,030 broker warrants (the Broker Warrants) (note 8) and incurred other costs of $184,299 required 
to complete the Placement. The total share issue costs were recorded as a charge against capital raised 
and allocated between share capital and contributed surplus. 
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6. Share capital (continued)

Stock option plan

The Company has a stock option plan (the Plan) for directors, officers, employees and certain key 
consultants of the Company. The number of common shares subject to options granted under the Plan 
(and under all other management options and employee stock purchase plans) is limited to 10% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares (rolling 10% plan) in the aggregate. Except for Performance 
Options granted, options under the Plan vest and become exercisable by the holder over a period of 18 
months, with 1⁄6 of the options being granted vesting at the end of each 3 month period following the 
grant. All of the current options expire five years from the grant date unless the options are forfeited 
sooner. In accordance with the regulations of the TSX Venture Exchange, the rolling 10% Stock Option 
Plan is subject to annual approval by the Company’s shareholders.

Performance stock options

In the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011, the Company granted 1,850,000 performance stock 
options (the performance stock options) to officers and directors. The terms of the grant are such that 
performance stock options vest based on milestones related to certain of the Company’s objectives 
associated with the commercialization of its technology. On June 30, 2011, 925,000 of the 
performance stock options vested, as approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, with the 
completion of a technical and economic feasibility study enabling consideration by a first adopter of 
the CVW™ Technology. On June 1, 2012, 925,000 of the performance stock options were forfeited as 
the Company did not conclude a definitive agreement with an oil sands operator (first adopter) for the 
development of the Corporation’s process by the target date of June 1, 2012. The performance stock 
options would have been exercisable at $2.00 per share for a period of five years from the date of grant, 
consistent with the Company’s stock option plan. The fair value attributed to the performance options 
granted on January 24, 2011, was $1.32, using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The fair value 
of the performance stock options granted during the period is estimated at the grant date using the 
Black Scholes option pricing model with the expense being recognized over the expected vesting term. 
The estimate of this expense is adjusted for subsequent changes in the expected or actual outcome of 
the vesting requirements and any changes to this expense is recorded in the period of the change. The 
resulting stock -based compensation expense specific to the performance stock options recognized 
in the year ending August 31, 2012 was a recovery of $282,982 (August 31, 2011 – expense of 
$1,615,327). The recovery was the result of adjusting the cumulative stock-based compensation 
expense recorded for the options that did not vest to zero, so the expense recognized in the previous 
year was reversed.

372012 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

6. Share capital (continued)

Summary of options

As of August 31, 2012, the Company was entitled to grant 6,417,942 stock options and performance 
stock options of which 4,403,734 have been granted.

A summary of the Company’s stock options and performance stock options activity is as follows:

2012 2011

 Number of 
common stock  
 options

 Weighted  
 average  
exercise price

 Number of  
 common  
 stock options 

 Weighted  
 average  
 exercise price

At September 1 5,618,434 $ 1.57 3,237,500 $ 1.44

Granted 75,000 1.75 3,150,000 1.72

Exercised (114,700) 0.91 (434,066) (0.82)

Forfeited/cancelled (925,000) 2.00 (50,000) (1.98)

Expired (250,000) 2.21 (285,000) (2.78)

At August 31 4,403,734 $ 1.47 5,618,434 $ 1.57

Options exercisable  
at August 31

  
 4,353,734

  
$ 1.47

  
 4,043,434

  
$ 1.52

The fair value attributed to the options granted during the year ended August 31, 2012 was $1.21, 
using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The assumptions used in the calculation of the fair value 
of the grant are noted below:

2012 2011

Risk-free interest rate 1.16% 2.09%

Expected life 3.68 years 3.76 years

Expected volatility 104% 91%

Fair value per option $ 1.21 $ 0.93

The following table summarizes the options outstanding as at August 31, 2012:

 
 
 
Range of 
exercise price

 
 
 
 Number of  
 stock options

 Weighted  
 average  
 remaining  
 contractual  
 life years

 
 
 Weighted  
 average 
exercise price

 
 
 Number  
 of options  
 exercisable 

 
 
 Weighted  
 average  
exercise price

0.00 – 0.99 1,082,000 1.97 $ 0.65 1,082,000 $ 0.65

1.00 – 1.99 1,391,734 2.98 1.33 1,341,734 1.32

2.00 – 2.99 1,930,000 1.86 2.02 1,930,000 2.02

4,403,734 2.21 $ 1.47 4,353,734 $ 1.47

The aggregate stock-based compensation expense, including the performance stock options, calculated 
for the year ended August 31, 2012 was a recovery of $75,164 (August 31, 2011 – expense of 
$2,655,367). The recovery was the result of the Company not achieving the non-market condition, 
specifically a definitive agreement with an oil sands operator (first adopter) for the development of the 
Corporation’s process by the target date of June 1, 2012. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AUGUST 31, 2012 AND 2011

7. Basic and diluted loss per share

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

As the Company incurred a loss for the years ended August 31, 2012 and 2011, the impact of 
potentially issuable common shares upon the exercise of options would be anti-dilutive, therefore basic 
and diluted loss per share as are the same.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of basic and diluted loss per share:

2012 2011

Net loss $  2,876,415 $ 10,534,198
Weighted average number of common shares for basic  

and diluted loss per share
 
 64,138,590

 
 61,774,938

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.05) $ (0.17)

8. Warrants

As part of the Placement (note 6), subscribers received one half of one Warrant per Unit purchased. Each 
Warrant entitled the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $2.50 until June 
15, 2012. A value of $2,249,797 was attributed to the Warrants issued under the Placement based 
on the Black-Scholes pricing model. The full value of the Warrants was credited to contributed surplus 
within shareholders’ equity. As part of the Placement, 426,030 broker warrants (the Broker Warrants) 
were issued to brokers who facilitated the Placement. Each Broker Warrant was issued under the same 
terms as the Warrants. A value of $267,527 was attributed to the Broker Warrants based on the Black-
Scholes pricing model and has been credited to contributed surplus within shareholders’ equity.

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes pricing model and the fair value for the Warrants and the 
Broker Warrants are noted below:

Risk-free interest rate  1.71%

Expected life 1.5 years

Expected volatility 84%

Fair value per whole warrant $ 0.63
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8. Warrants (continued)

As at August 31, 2012, the warrants outstanding are as follows:

 
 
 Warrants 

 Weighted  
 average  
 exercise price

 
 
 Amount

Balance – September 1, 2010  – $  – $  – 

Warrants issued on the Placement 3,582,750 2.50 2,249,797

Broker warrants issued on the Placement 426,030 2.50 267,527

Issue costs  –  – (204,000)

Balance – August 31, 2011 4,008,780 2.50 2,313,324

Expiry of warrants (3,582,750) 2.50 (2,249,797)

Expiry of Broker Warrants (426,030) 2.50 (267,527)

Issue cost on expired warrants  –  – 204,000

Balance – August 31, 2012  – $  – $  – 

On June 15, 2012, the Warrants and Broker Warrants that were issued expired. 

9. Income taxes

The tax recovery on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to losses of the entity as follows:

2012 2011

Loss before income taxes $ 2,876,415 $ 10,534,198

Tax calculated at applicable statutory rates applicable to profits 733,486 2,831,138
Tax effect of

Tax losses and other items for which no deferred  
income tax asset was recognized

 
 (846,508)

 
 (3,491,771)

Stock-based compensation expense not deductible  
for tax purposes

 
 19,167

 
 (716,949)

Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes 108,561 118,095
Re-measurement of deferred tax – impact of substantively 

enacted rates
 
 (14,706)

 
 (156,159

Adjustment to non-capital losses  – 1,415,646

Tax recovery $  – $  – 

The weighted average applicable rate was 25.5% (2011 – 27.0%). The decrease in rate is due to  
a previously legislated decrease in the federal statutory corporate income tax rates from fiscal 2011 
to fiscal 2012.
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9. Income taxes (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and (liabilities) during the year is as follows:

  
 Non-capital  
 losses

 Deferred  
 grant  
 revenue

 
  
 Total

At September 1, 2010 $ – $ – $ – 
Credit (charged) to the income statement 122,963 (122,963)  – 

At August 31, 2011 122,963 (122,963)  – 
Credit (charged) to the income statement  –  –  – 

At August 31, 2012 $  122,963 $ (122,963) $ – 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for loss carry-forwards and other deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits 
is probable. The Company did not recognize deferred income tax assets of $11,946,000 (2011 – 
$11,090,551) in respect of tax losses and other deductible temporary differences amounting to 
$53,415,000 (2011 – $50,041,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable income.

Included in these deductible temporary differences are federal scientific research and experimental 
development (SR&ED) pool expenditures amounting to $18,552,000 (2011 – $18,730,000) that 
can be carried forward to use against future federal net income for tax purposes. Also included in 
these deductible temporary differences are Alberta scientific research and experimental development 
(SR&ED) pool expenditures amounting to $8,651,0000 (2011 – $8,828,000) that can be carried 
forward to use against future Alberta net income for tax purposes. These SR&ED pool expenditures do 
not expire. The Company has filed returns in support of SR&ED expenditures of $4,770,000 for the 
year ended August 31, 2011. The Company has up to 18 months within its fiscal year end to file the 
2012 SR&ED claim.

Deferred stock issuance costs amounting to $782,000 (2011 – $1,043,000) are also included in these 
deductible temporary differences. These will be deducted against future net income for tax purposes 
evenly over the next three years.

The Company did not recognize the benefits of non-refundable federal research and development 
investment tax credits (ITC’s) amounting to $4,329,000 (2011 – $4,388,000). These tax credits can be 
carried forward against future federal income tax payable. The Company has filed returns in support of 
ITC’s of $1,026,000 for the year ended August 31, 2011. The Company has up to 18 months within its 
fiscal year end to file the 2012 SR&ED claim.
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9. Income taxes (continued)

The non-capital losses and non-refundable research and development tax expenditures will expire as 
follows:

 Federal non- 
 capital loss  
carry-forwards 

 Alberta non- 
 capital loss  
carry-forwards 

 Federal  
 investment  
 tax credits

2014 $ 2,019,000 $ 2,019,000 $  – 

2015 5,059,000 5,059,000  – 

2021  –  –  – 

2022  –  –  – 

2023  –  – 91,000

2024  –  – 551,000

2025  –  – 231,000

2026 3,399,000 3,399,000 473,000

2027 1,737,000 1,737,000 300,000

2028  – 764,000 279,000

2029 4,192,000 6,293,000 517,000

2030 3,114,000 3,114,000 861,000

2031 4,877,000 4,877,000 1,026,000

2032 4,032,000 4,032,000  – 

$ 28,429,000 $ 31,294,000 $ 4,329,000

10. Segmented information

Operating segments

The Company has one reporting segment engaged in researching and developing a separation process 
for the recovery of heavy minerals and bitumen from oil sands froth treatment tailings. As the operations 
comprise a single reporting segment, amounts disclosed in the financial statements represent those of 
the single reporting unit. In addition, all of the Company’s equipment is located in Canada. 
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11. Expenses by nature

General and administrative expenses consist of the following:

2012 2011

Compensation and benefits $ 775,070 $ 776,070

Stock-based compensation (note 6) (65,680) 2,022,702

Investor relations and regulatory 281,940 259,191

Consulting and professional fees 426,282 358,118

Directors’ fees 275,132 298,819

Travel 177,640 138,550

Rent, insurance and office 215,917 213,820

$ 2,086,301 $ 4,067,270

Research and development expenses consist of the following:

2012 2011

Pilot plant, rent and other $ 995,630 $ 7,982,961

Compensation and benefits 714,923 731,075

Stock-based compensation (note 6) (9,484) 632,665

Government grant recovery (note 4)  – (2,777,323)

Research tax credits (800,000)  – 

$ 901,069 $ 6,569,378

12. Compensation of key management

Compensation awarded to key management(1) included:

2012 2011

Salaries and short-term employee benefits $ 1,185,743 $ 1,185,253

Stock-based compensation (92,098) 2,432,104

Directors’ fees 275,130 298,819

$ 1,368,775 $ 3,916,176
(1)Key management includes all directors and officers of the Company
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk factors

The Company has for accounting purposes, designated its cash and cash equivalents, refundable tax 
credit, goods and services tax receivable, government grant receivable, short-term investments and 
restricted short-term investments as loans and receivables. Accounts payables and accrued liabilities 
are classified for accounting purposes as other financial liabilities.

As of August 31, 2012, the Company estimates that both the carrying and fair value amounts  
of the Company’s financial instruments are approximately equivalent because of the short-term  
nature of the assets.

Financial risk

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial, credit, liquidity and market risks, including 
interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks.

Financial risk management is carried out by the Company’s management team with guidance from 
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides guidance for 
enterprise risk management.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. 
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash 
equivalents are held with Schedule I Canadian Chartered banks, which are reviewed by management. 
Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to research tax credits receivable, 
goods and services tax receivable and government grant receivable financial instruments is minimal.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will 
have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due by monitoring actual and projected cash flows. The 
Board of Directors reviews and approves the operating plan as well as any material transactions outside 
the ordinary course of business. As at August 31, 2012, the Company had aggregate cash and cash 
equivalents of $8,385,863 (2011 – $12,025,482) to settle current liabilities of $634,022 (2011 – 
$1,052,631). Most of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual terms of 30 days or less.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and 
foreign exchange rates.

a) Interest rate risk

The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in bankers’ acceptances and guaranteed 
investment certificates issued by Schedule I Canadian banks. The Company periodically monitors  
its investments and the creditworthiness of the banks it holds investments in. As at August 31, 
2012, the Company has no bankers’ acceptances, guaranteed investment certificates or interest 
bearing debt.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk factors (continued)

b) Foreign currency risk

The Company’s reporting and functional currency is the Canadian dollar and most purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars. Some research and development expense is denominated in US 
dollars and, to a lesser extent, Australian dollars. The Company does not hold any significant balances 
in foreign currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign exchange risk. Any impact from fluctuations 
in foreign exchange rates would be minimal and therefore the Company does not hedge its foreign 
exchange risk.

14. Capital management

The Company’s objectives for managing capital are:

• To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide adequate 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

• To fund capital projects for facilitation of business expansion provided there is sufficient liquidity  
of capital to enable the internal financing; and

• To maintain a capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence. 

The Company considers its shareholders’ equity as its capital, which totalled $8,725,407 (2011 – 
$11,610,615). The Company does not have any bank debt or externally imposed capital requirements. 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to manage its cash and cash equivalents prudently; 
to minimize the expenditures on general and administrative costs so that more funds are available for 
research and development to continue to advance the Oil Sands Project forward; and to access available 
government funding for research and development. 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that its current 
approach, given the relative size and stage of the Company, is appropriate. There were no changes in the 
Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended August 31, 2012.

15. Transition to IFRS

The policies set out in the Significant Accounting Policies section have been applied in preparing the 
financial statements for the year ended August 31, 2012, the comparative information presented in 
these financial statements for the year ended August 31, 2011 and the preparation of an opening IFRS 
statement of financial position at September 1, 2010. 

The Company has applied IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of IFRS, in preparing its transitional statements. 
IFRS 1 provides specific choices and mandates specific exceptions with respect to first-time adoption 
of IFRS. The significant choices applicable to the Company relate to the following:

• Property, Plant & Equipment: IFRS 1 provides a choice between measuring equipment at its fair value 
at the date of transition and using those amounts as deemed cost or using the historical valuation 
under Canadian GAAP. The historical cost carrying values under Canadian GAAP approximate the 
depreciated cost of equipment in accordance with IFRS. The Company has decided to continue to 
apply the cost model for equipment and has not restated equipment to fair value under IFRS. The 
Company has elected to use the historical cost carrying values as determined under Canadian GAAP 
as deemed cost, at the date of transitions to IFRS.
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15. Transition to IFRS (continued)

• Stock-based Compensation: IFRS 1 allows the Company to choose not to apply IFRS 2, Share-based 
Payments, to equity instruments that were granted before November 7, 2002 and those granted after 
November 7, 2002 that vested prior to the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has therefore 
elected to apply IFRS 2 only to outstanding stock options that were unvested at September 1, 2010.

In preparing its opening IFRS statements of financial position, the Company has adjusted amounts 
reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. An explanation 
of how the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the additional notes that 
accompany the tables.

a) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities

Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity

 
 Note

 August 31,  
 2011

 September 1,  
 2010

Share capital under Canadian GAAP $ 59,929,848 $ 48,386,821
Adjustments – –

Share capital under IFRS 59,929,848 48,386,821

Contributed surplus under Canadian GAAP 13,891,714 9,198,999
Adjustments  i 208,267 136,685

Contributed surplus under IFRS 14,099,981 9,335,684

Deficit under Canadian GAAP (61,909,281) (51,495,165)

Canadian GAAP adjustment  i (301,666) (253,166)

IFRS transition adjustment  ii (208,267) (136,685)

Deficit under IFRS (62,419,214) (51,885,016)

Total shareholders’ equity under Canadian GAAP 11,912,281 6,090,655

Canadian GAAP adjustment  i (301,666) (253,166)

Total shareholders’ equity under IFRS $ 11,610,615 $   5,837,489

b) Reconciliation of net loss and comprehensive loss

 
 
 Note

 Year ended  
 August 31,  
 2011

Net loss under Canadian GAAP $ (10,414,116)

Canadian GAAP adjustment i (48,500)

IFRS transition adjustment ii (71,582

Net loss under IFRS (10,534,198)

Comprehensive loss under Canadian GAAP (10,414,116)

Canadian GAAP adjustment i (48,500)

IFRS transition adjustment ii (71,582)

Comprehensive loss under IFRS $ (10,534,198)
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15. Transition to IFRS (continued)

c) Reconciliation of cash flows

There was no impact on the Company’s previously reported cash flows upon transition to IFRS.

Notes to the restatements

i) Canadian GAAP adjustment – Employee benefits

As a result of analyzing employee benefit arrangements in connection with the transition to IFRS 
the Company re-evaluated its accounting for certain short-term employee benefits. Previously, 
compensation expense was recognized in the year the benefit was approved by the Board of Directors. 
Under the new policy, the compensation expense is recognized as service is provided. The change 
resulted in an increase in accrued liabilities and deficit of $301,666 as at August 31, 2011 and 
$253,166 as at September 1, 2010 and an increase in expenses of $48,500 for the year ended  
August 31, 2011.

ii) IFRS transition adjustment – Share based compensation

Under IFRS graded vesting awards are accounted for as though each installment is a separate award. 
IFRS does not provide for an election to treat the instruments as a pool and recognize expense on a 
straight line basis. Straight line basis was permissible under Canadian GAAP. Also under IFRS, the 
estimates of the number of equity-settled awards that vest are adjusted to the actual number that vests, 
unless forfeitures are due to market-based conditions. There is no choice to accrue compensation cost 
as if all instruments granted were expected to vest and recognize the effect of the forfeitures as they 
occur as elected by the Company under Canadian GAAP. The impact of transition to IFRS with respect 
to options granted after November 7, 2002 that vest after the date of transition, is an increase in deficit 
and contributed surplus by $136,685 at the date of transition. Research and development and general 
and administration expenses increased by $31,862 and $39,720 respectively, for the year ended 
August 31, 2011. 

iii) Presentation and classification

The Company’s statement of loss and comprehensive loss is presented by function. Stock-based 
compensation, depreciation and foreign exchange loss have been reclassified to R&D and SG&A 
expenses under IFRS. These changes are reclassifications only and there is no impact on loss or 
comprehensive loss as a result of these classification changes.

16. Subsequent event

On October 29, 2012, the Company and SDTC amended the Contribution Agreement to include 
additional R&D programs resulting in an additional grant of $1,373,344. This brings the total SDTC 
funding to $6,292,556. R&D programs related to the additional funding will be carried out in fiscal 2013.
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